

Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts: discovery and developments

Biswajit Panda

Assistant Professor, Department of Chemistry, City College, 102/1 Raja Rammohan Sarani, Kolkata-700009, India Email: biswajitchem@gmail.com

Dedicated to my beloved teacher Professor Dipakranjan Mal to celebrate his 70th birthday

Received 05-18-2021

Accepted 07-01-2021

Published on line 08-05-2021

Abstract

Colourful chemistry: Arenediazonium salts represent efficient, common, easily available aryl surrogates from inexpensive anilines and show higher reactivity compare to aryl halides and triflates towards various cross-coupling reactions. We have disclosed the Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts in 2010; afterward, several groups successfully developed various protocols for this reaction. This mini-review describes the discovery and progress of the alkynylation of arenediazonium salts in due time, highlights the strengths and weaknesses of each protocol.



Keywords: Arenediazonium salt, Sonogashira coupling, alkynylation, cross-coupling, C-C bond formation

Table of Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Early Attempt
- 3. Discovery of Sonogashira Coupling of Arenediazonium Salts
- 4. Developments

4.1. Cachhi and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2010)
4.2. Beller and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2011)
4.3. Dughera and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2014)
4.4. Toste and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2016)
4.5. Glorius and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2016)
4.6. Organ and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2016)
4.7. Nagarkar and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2017)
4.8. Cheng and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2017)
4.9. Chi and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2020)
4.10. Li and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2021)
5. Conclusions
Acknowledgements

References

1. Introduction

In 2010, the Nobel Prize in chemistry recognized the invention of strategies for the palladium-catalyzed construction of carbon-carbon bonds through the so-called cross-coupling reactions. In organic chemistry, the development of new carbon-carbon bonds is of key significance and a requirement for the synthesis of medicinally important compounds, polymers, and various functional materials. The palladium-catalyzed crosscoupling reaction is a reliable method for the C-C bond formation. In this context, aryl or vinyl halides or triflates have found broad utility as electrophilic coupling partners. Recently, considerable attention has been focused on the metal-catalyzed coupling reactions that incorporate arenediazonium tetrafluoroborate salts as aryl electrophilic components.¹ Aryl diazonium salts have been discovered in the middle of the 19th century by Johann Peter Griefs, who was working on azo compounds as dyes and pigments.² They are a class of super electrophiles with the common structure of $R-N_2X$, where R is an aryl or heteroaryl fragment and X is a weakly nucleophilic organic or inorganic anion. Some diazonium salts are commercially available; however, the high nucleofuge properties of the diazonium salts make these compounds potentially hazardous, especially on large scale. By the way, whenever aryl diazonium salts have been involved in several industrial processes, including a Heck-Matsuda reaction for the preparation of herbicide Prosulfuron at Syngenta^{3, 4} safety issues hampered further developments. Indeed, the stability of aryl diazonium salts is mostly dependent on the associated counterion, although the aryl structure should also be considered. For instance, while aryl diazonium chlorides⁵ and acetates are unstable above 0 °C, their tetrafluoroborate,⁶ tosylate,⁷ and disulfonamide^{8,9} counterparts are usually more stable and isolable as crystalline salts. Arenediazonium salts are good aryl halide surrogates so one can take full advantage of several of their important features.¹⁰ First, arenediazonium salts can be easily synthesized from the corresponding anilines with high yields.¹¹ Second, the arenediazonium salts are more reactive than the corresponding aryl halides in the palladium-catalyzed Heck

©AUTHOR(S)

and Suzuki reactions.^{12,13} Third, palladium-catalyzed reactions can usually be carried out at lower temperature (between 20 and 50 °C) than the typical Heck and Suzuki reactions (over 100 °C), and they can also be carried out without added extra base or salt (such as silver chloride or thallium ethoxide),^{14,15} which extend the reaction scope to substrates with sensitive functional groups. Fourth, using arenediazonium salts high chemoand regioselectivity can be achieved in the coupling reactions. Fifth, in the cross-coupling reaction of arenediazonium salts the leaving group N₂ does not interfere with the reaction mixture. Thus, the development of an arenediazonium salt that can be used in the metal-catalyzed coupling reaction could both accelerate the synthesis of valuable organic molecules and reduce the steps involved in the synthesis of pharmaceuticals and agrochemicals.¹⁰

Arenediazonium salts are prepared by the reaction of anilines with a source of nitrite.¹⁶ When the diazotization reaction is performed in water, sodium nitrite and a strong acid are required according to the stoichiometry of equation 1. Since the nature of the counterions of arenediazonium salt is of utmost importance for their stability as well as reactivity, the choice of acid in the diazotization process is most significant. Diazotization of anilines in organic solvents is accomplished by reaction of the aniline with an organic nitrite (equation 2).¹¹

 $Ar-NH_{2} + NaNO_{2} + 2HA \longrightarrow Ar-N_{2}A + NaA + 2H_{2}O$ (1) $Ar-NH_{2} + RONO + 2BF_{3} \longrightarrow Ar-N_{2}BF_{4} + ROH + HOBF_{2}$ (2)

The common reactions of arene diazonium salts are shown in Scheme 1. Its use is limited due to the low stability of arene cations **2**, generated from **1** through nitrogen elimination.¹ Elimination of dinitrogen is frequently induced by single electron transfer (SET) from a low-valence metal, usually Cu(I).^{1,17} Generation of the relatively stable arene free radical **3** induces introduction of several nucleophilic anions (chloride, bromide, cyanide, thiocyanate: Sandmeyer chemistry) probably through an aromatic radical-anion intermediate¹⁷ with the recovery of the low-valence metal that acts catalytically. Coupling of arene diazonium salts with highly nucleophilic aniline derivatives or phenolates provides coloured diazo compound **4a**, commonly known as azo dye. They constitute the most numerous family of commercially available dyes.² Certain reducing agents (Na₂SO₃, SnCl₂/HCl, Zn/NiCl₂) preserve the N-N bond to afford arylhydrazines **4b**. It is little understood that cations **1** can coordinate metals to give species **5** where the oxidation number of the metal (M) has been increased by two units. Palladium(0) gives this type of reaction producing, initially, cation **6** and, finally, arenepalladium cation **7** (Scheme 1).

Although typical palladium-catalyzed cross-couplings like Matsuda-Heck,¹⁸⁻²⁰ Suzuki-Miyaura,²¹⁻²³ carbonylative couplings,²⁴ Stille,²⁵ C-heteroatom²⁶⁻²⁸ couplings, etc in which diazonium salts have been used as electrophilic partners instead of the more usual halides or oxygen-based electrophilic components are known in the literature, Sonogashira-type cross-coupling of arenediazonium salts is not being reported before our work (Scheme 2). For years, however, the Sonogashira reaction²⁹ has remained a staple of organic synthesis due to the efficiency with which aryl alkynes and conjugated enynes, which are prevalent intermediates for the synthesis of a diverse array of natural products,³⁰⁻³³ pharmaceuticals, and molecular organic materials, are accessible.³⁴⁻³⁶



Scheme 1. Reaction of arenediazonium salts.



Scheme 2. Cross-Coupling of arenediazonium salts.

2. Early Attempt

Sengupta and Sadhukhan attempted the Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts for the first time, but they were unable to succeed.³⁷ In the course of their investigation on palladium-catalyzed reactions of arenediazonium salts, they had introduced the "iodoarenediazonium salts (III)" 8 (Figure 1) as a new class of aromatic substrates for differential Heck and cross-coupling reactions. They commented in their published communication³⁷ in the year 1998 that "A limitation of the synthon III arises from the fact that arenediazonium salts do not participate in Sonogashira-type couplings with terminal acetylenes."

N_2BF_4

Figure 1. Synthon III.

Presumably, there are two main reasons for the absence of arenediazonium salts in Sonogashira couplings: firstly, phosphines such as Ph₃P cannot be a ligand of choice in Pd-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions with diazonium salts as it is known to transfer an electron to the latter to afford the arene radical and the cation radical of Ph₃P (equation 3)¹; the arene radical then abstracts a hydrogen atom, mainly from alcoholic solvents or moisture, to give the overall reduction products Ar-H, whereas the cation radical of $Ph_{3}P$ is finally converted to O=PPh₃. Secondly, elimination of N₂ is frequently induced by single electron transfer (SET) from a low-valence metal, usually, Cu(I) which was used in traditional Sonogashira coupling as co-catalyst (equation 4);^{1,17} as described in scheme 1.

> $ArN_2^+Y^-$ + PPh_3 \longrightarrow Ar + N_2 + PPh_3Y^- (3) $ArN_2^+Y^- + Cu^IX \longrightarrow Ar + N_2 + Cu^{II}XY$ (4)

3. Discovery of Sonogashira Coupling of Arenediazonium Salts

Although traditionally the palladium catalysts for the Sonogashira coupling of aryl or vinyl halides contain phosphine ligands, in case of an uneventful Sonogashira reaction with arenediazonium salts, we must avoid the use of phosphine-based ligands on palladium. Similarly, the other metal required for the transmetallation step should have high oxidation potential and be compatible with arenediazonium salts. It occurred to us that the other coinage metal, namely gold fulfills these criteria. In the previous work, we have found the efficacy of the catalytic combination Pd(PPh₃)₂Cl₂/AuCl(PPh₃) in Sonogashira coupling of aryl and heteroaryl halides.^{38,39} We felt that a similar combination devoid of phosphine ligands may be the catalyst of choice for the Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts. Indeed, we have successfully developed the protocol for the first Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts using a Pd-Au dual catalytic system.⁴⁰ In our method, 1 mol% AuCl has been used as co-catalyst combined with 4 mol% PdCl₂ in the coupling of arenediazonium salts with terminal alkynes, a process carried out in the presence of ©AUTHOR(S)

ligand bis-2,6-diisopropylphenyl dihydroimidazolium chloride (IPr NHC) (5 mol%) and base 2,6-di-tertbutyl-4-methylpyridine (DBMP) in acetonitrile solvent. The reaction proceeds smoothly at room temperature to afford various alkynylated products in good yields. The synthetic efficiency of this reaction was studied with a variety of electronically and structurally diverse arenediazonium salts and acetylenes. Electron neutral, electron-rich as well as electron-deficient arenediazonium salts were successfully coupled with both aryl and alkyl acetylenes to afford desired arylated alkynes in good yields (Scheme 3). Sterically hindered arenediazonium salts are also coupled nicely in our protocol. Because N,Ndimethylanilines readily undergo azo-coupling with arenediazonium salts, cross-coupling of arenediazonium salts with alkynes containing an *N*,*N*-dimethylanilino group is a challenging task, such couplings are achievable under these conditions. Various functional groups like nitro, alcohol, benzyl ether, methoxy, methyl, ester, *N*,*N*-dimethylanilino, etc are tolerated in this method. ortho-Substituted arenediazonium salts and sterically hindered 2,6-dimethyl benzene diazonium salts also nicely coupled with alkynes. Our method was found to be useful for the one-pot direct in situ diazotization and crosscoupling reaction starting from anilines. The yields indicated in parenthesis in scheme 3 are obtained directly from aniline in one-pot diazotization and cross-coupling reactions.



Scheme 3. First Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts.

A plausible mechanism for the Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts using the Pd-Au dual catalytic system⁴¹⁻⁵⁹ is shown in Scheme 4. This reaction presumably occurs in three stages:³⁴ firstly, the cation **A** can coordinate the in situ generated palladium(0) to give initially cation **B** and finally, arene-palladium cation **C**, in which the palladium(0) has increased its oxidation number by two units. The second stage involves the transmetalation of the in situ generated alkynylgold species **E**, formed by initial coordination of gold to the alkyne followed by abstraction of a proton from **D** by the base, to the palladium(0) complex. To support the proposed mechanism, coupling of **9** was carried out as usual, but instead of AuCl the preformed gold acetylide **10** (1 mol%) was used as the source of gold catalyst. This reaction furnished the desired coupled product **11** in 58% isolated yield (Scheme 5).



Scheme 4. A proposed mechanism for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts.



Scheme 5. Sonogashira coupling using preformed alkynylgold as the catalyst.

4. Developments

4.1. Cachhi and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2010)

After our pioneering work on Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts, Cacchi et al.⁶⁰ reported the Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts using classical catalytic systems, e.g. PdCl₂(PPh₃)₂, CuI, and

amine base (Et₂NH) in presence of two equivalents of iodide source (nBu₄NI). Two equivalents of terminal acetylenes are required with respect to arenediazonium salts to obtain satisfactory yields. The method provides moderate to good yields of the coupled products. The one-pot diazonium salt preparation followed by Sonogashira coupling is possible in this protocol (Scheme 6). The mechanism for this alkynylation reaction, according to this group, involves the initial iododediazoniation of the arenediazonium salt, followed by the formation of a σ -aryl palladium iodide by oxidative addition, subsequent reaction of σ -aryl palladium iodide with copper acetylide that is formed in situ, and reductive elimination of the resultant σ -alkyne– σ -aryl palladium complex to gives the cross-coupling product with the regeneration of active catalyst species.



Scheme 6. One-pot iododediazoniation and Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts.

In the true sense, this method is not an example of direct Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts. In this method, the coupling reaction occurs in two stages: firstly aryl iodides are formed via iododediazoniation, and secondly regular Sonogashira coupling of generated aryl iodides gives the coupled products. Thus, it is an example of a domino iododediazoniation-Sonogashira cross-coupling sequence. This method suffers from several weaknesses, the reason to use aryl diazonium salts is to avoid the use of the more expensive aryl iodides. In this method, two equivalents of ⁿBu₄NI are needed, and these are sometimes more costly than aryl iodides themselves. Additionally, this method will not be beneficial if the terminal acetylene is either difficult to make or expensive, since additional amount of acetylene is required to get success in this protocol.

4.2. Beller and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2011)

In 2011, Beller et al.'s reported a mild and expedient protocol for the Sonogashira coupling of in situ generated arenediazonium salts with alkynes to afford diverse arylated alkynes. This method is of course more direct and allows a general and convenient palladium-catalyzed Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts to give the internal aryl alkynes in good yields (Scheme 7).⁶¹ In this method $Pd(OAc)_2$ is used as a catalyst and a tri-heteroarylphosphane, namely a tri(2-furyl)phosphane (TFP) as ligand. Both electron-donating substituents and electron-withdrawing groups in arenediazonium salts are tolerated in this method. Not only the arenediazonium salts, but a large number of aryl, alkyl, and trimethylsilyl acetylenes have also participated under this protocol. Base or co-catalyst was not required in this condition. Interestingly, thermally unstable propargyl alcohol derivatives such as phenyl propargyl ether, propargyl benzoate, etc were successfully coupled and provide the desired products in moderate to good yields. However, Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts with alkynes bearing an *N*,*N*-dimethylanilino group, e.g. 4-ethynyl-*N*,*N*-dimethylaniline, which is well tolerated in Pd-Au dual catalytic condition,⁴⁰ is ineffective in this method.



Scheme 7. Palladium-catalyzed Sonogashira coupling of in situ generated arenediazonium salts.

4.3. Dughera and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2014)

In 2014, Dughera and co-workers have reported a protocol for the palladium-catalyzed Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium O-benzenedisulfonimides under copper and phosphane-free conditions (Scheme 8).⁶² Application of Arenediazonium O-benzenedisulfonimides which are easy to prepare and shows comparatively higher stability with respect to arenediazonium halides made this protocol more user-friendly. Notably, base, ligand, or co-catalyst was not required in this protocol. The high yield and cleanness of the reactions are the merits of this method. Mechanistic investigation shows that DMSO and the anion of O-benzenedisulfonimides play fundamental roles in the generation of actual Pd(0) catalyst. It also revealed that DMSO plays a vital role in the mechanistic cycle to increase the reactivity of alkyne. Aromatic rings containing two diazonium groups also participate in cross-coupling under these conditions. Benzene-1,4-bis(diazonium) O-benzenedisulfonimide coupled successfully in presence of two equivalents of phenylacetylene to afford the bis-alkyne product in good yield (shown in dashed box). Interestingly, coupling of 2-hydroxybenzene diazonium salt with phenylacetylene provides 2-phenylbenzofuran in satisfactory yield through the spontaneous cyclization of initially formed 1-(2-hydroxyphenyl)-2-phenylacetylene.



Scheme 8. Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium o-benzenedisulfonimides.

4.4. Toste and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2016)

Alkynylation of arenediazonium tetrafluoroborates with alkynyl trimethyl silanes under dual photoredox and gold-catalyzed methods was described by Troste et al. in 2016 (Scheme 9).⁶³ Mechanistic insight revealed that the reaction undergoes in three steps, firstly; via visible light-mediated oxidative addition of arenediazonium salts. Then, gold-catalyzed transmetalation of alkynyl trimethyl silane through the generation of gold acetylide intermediate and lastly, reductive elimination of aryl-alkynyl complex to furnished the desired product. Notably, aryl halides that are susceptible to the Sonogashira coupling are well tolerated in this protocol which helps for further functionalization. Since the base is not required in this coupling procedure, alkynylation can be feasible for the arediazonium salts containing base-sensitive functional groups. Interestingly, both tetrafluoroborate and tosylate diazonium salts were found to be effective coupling partners compared to hexafluorophosphate salts and the latter provide the desired prduct with low yield. Furthermore, just a trace amount of the coupling product was isolated when terminal alkyne was used instead of alkynyltrimethylsilanes. These findings show that transmetallation from the organosilane is crucial for the present coupling reaction for high efficiency. After the completion of reaction, the presence of stoichiometric amounts of trimethylsilyl fluoride were detected in the reaction mixture by analyzing ¹H NMR spectra of crude product. Mild experimental conditions and high functional group toleration, as well as high yields of the coupled products, are the merits of this method.



Scheme 9. Alkynylation of arenediazonium salts with alkynyl trimethyl silanes.

Glorius and co-workers have reported an efficient method for the arylatin of terminal alkynes emplying arenediazonium salts under a dual gold/photo redox catalytic system (Scheme10).⁶⁴ Both electronically and structurally diverse aryl alkynes were synthesized using aryl or alkyl acetylenes under mild, base-free reaction conditions using visible light from a household light bulb or in presence of sunlight. Large substrate scope, room temperature reaction, high functional group toleration are the merits of this protocol. Since halogenated substrates are well tolerated, this protocol may be beneficial in the design of cross-coupling sequences. Interstingly, Au(I)/Au(III) redox cycles were employed without using external oxidants in this strategy.



Scheme 10. Alkynylation of arenediazonium salts using gold/photo redox catalytic system.

4.6. Organ and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2016)

Organ and coworkers have outlined a flow process for the convertion of a wide range of commercially available aryl amines into biarylacetylene compounds in high yield (Scheme11).⁶⁵ It follows the sequential diazotization, Sandmeyer reaction, and Sonogashira coupling strategy to furnished the coupled products. This process offered a high-yielding, versatile method for the conversion of cheap anilines into valuable internal aryl alkynes. They have also developed software to control the flow of the aryl iodide segment to the cross-

coupling reactors with the help of an automated continuous-flow unit which was controllable by that software.



Scheme 11. Sonogashira coupling under flow conditions.

4.7. Nagarkar and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2017)

In 2017, Nagarkar and co-workers described an effective N-heterocyclic carbene-based Pd complex catalyzed decarboxylative Sonogashira coupling reactions with diazonium salts in ligand and co-catalyst free conditions (Scheme 12).⁶⁶ The Pd(NHC)PEPPSI is a pre-catalyst that is not only air and moisture stable, but also efficiently catalyzes the alkynylation reaction at lower loading. Different aryl and heteroaryl diazonium salts perform sp²-sp cross-coupling reactions with alkynyl carboxylic acid to offer moderate to good yields of various internal acetylenes. This methodology was successfully used to Sonogashira coupling of heteroaryl diazonium salts of 4-amino pyridine, 3-amino pyridine, and benzo[*d*]thiazol-2-amine with phenyl propiyalic acid to produce heteroaryl-substituted acetylene products in high yields. Thus diazonium salt serve as an effective, easily accessible, and economical aryl surrogates over traditional aryl halides and triflates.



Scheme 12. Decarboxylative Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts.

The authors also reported the synthesis of symmetrical alkynes using propiolic acid as an alkyne source under newly optimized conditions (Scheme 13). They used organic base DBU in DMSO instead of inorganic bases K₂CO₃ or Cs₂CO₃ at 90 °C. In contrast to asymmetrical coupling, the electronic effect played a more important role in symmetrical coupling than steric hindrance, since diazonium salts containing electron-donating substituents such as 2-methyl, 2,6-di-methyl, and 4-methyl easily undergo coupling reaction and provide the desired products in excellent yield. Likewise, diazonium salts containing mild electron-withdrawing substituents (halides) also gave the coupling product in good yield. On the other hand, the coupling reaction of arenediazonium salts containing electron-withdrawing functional groups (2-nitro, 4-nitro) and heteroaryl diazonium salts were found to be unsuccessful under this experimental conditions.



Scheme 13. Decarboxylative Sonogashira coupling reactions with propiolic acid.

4.8. Cheng and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2019)

In 2019, Cheng and co-workers developed a simple approach by visible light-induced photoredox catalysis for the synthesis of diaryl alkynes in good yields (Scheme 14).⁶⁷ In this protocol various functionalized arenediazonium salts have been employed as the source of aryl radical which coupled with alkynes generated in situ from alkynyl carboxylic acid through decarboxylation. Both electronically and structurally diverse arene diazonium salts containing wide range of functional groups coupled with substituted aryl and alkyl propiolic acids under mild, base-free and transition metal free conditions at room temperature. Readily available, inexpensive organic dye, eosin Y was used as a suitable photocatalyst in this protocol. Owing to its superior reduction capacity the photocatalyst, eosin Y acts as an excited-state reductant, therefore initiating the quenching cycle for addition of radical as well as decarboxylative elimination. A hypervalent iodine(III) reagent acetoxybenziodoxole (BI-OAc) was found to be a suitable additive to considerably improve the product yield in this process.Furthermore, in comparison to other methods no waste of transition metals was produced in this procedure. As a result, it is indeed a practical and environmentally friendly method for the production of valuable aryl internal alkynes. The control experiment indicated that both the photocatalyst, and visible light plays a vital role in this transformation, since absence of any one resulted no reaction. Preliminary mechanistic investigation revealed that, the reaction was inhibited by a radical scavenger, consequently, this reaction is probably to entail a radical process.

Panda, B.



Scheme 14. Visible light-catalyzed decarboxylative alkynylation of arenediazonium salts.

4.9. Chi and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2020)

In 2020, Abrams and Chi accidentally discovered a decarboxylative Sonogashira coupling of isolated arenediazonium tetrafluoroborate salts with alkynyl carboxylic acid in presence of the gold(I) catalyst AuCl(Me₂S) and base Cs₂CO₃ under mild conditions (Scheme 15).⁶⁸ The reaction affords highly functionalized diaryl alkynes in low yield from various structurally diverse arene diazonium salts. Authors did not reported the actual isolated yields of each final product instead of a general yield 25-30%. Although these reactions are not much sensitive to electronic nature of function groups present in arene diazonium salts, but lower rate of reaction was observed in case of coupling of sterically hindered ortho-substituted diazonium salts with alkynoic acids. Since the reaction yielded several by-products among them two major by-products are hydrodediazonation and Ullmann coupling product. They have priliminarily proposed that the reaction proceed through a radical pathway via the generation of arene radical.



N.B. All yields were consistent in nature and ranged from 25 to 30%.

Scheme 15. Gold(I)-catalyzed alkynylation of arenediazonium salts with alkynoic Acids

4.10. Li and coworkers protocol for Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts (2021)

In 2021, Li et al. reported an effective process for the Sonogashira coupling of aryl diazonium salts through domino iododediazoniation-Sonogashira coupling strategy (Scheme 16). In their method calcium carbide was used as a source of acetylene and the reaction was performed in a deep eutectic solvent (DES).⁶⁹ Mixture of choline chloride and urea in 1:2 ratio was used as DES here. Electronically and structurally diverse diarylethynes were synthesized at ambient temperature with good yields. This method has several benefits such as the use of calcium carbide as cheap and convenient to handle alkyne sources and the solvent used that is non-toxic, non-volatile, and reusable, mild and open-air reaction conditions, and an easy work-up procedure. This method is useful for the gram-scale synthesis of diaryl acetylenes. This approach offers a strong alternative to access diarylacetylenes, and will broaden the scope of uses of calcium carbide in organic synthesis.



Scheme 16. Alkynylation of arenediazonium salts by using CaC₂ as an alkyne source

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, the details about the discovery of Sonogashira coupling of arenediazonium salts and the developments of various protocols were described briefly in this mini-review. To get a deep insight into the reaction path of all the methods, considerable discussion on the mechanism of each reaction was included. The strengths and weaknesses of each protocol were thoroughly highlighted in this article. It can be expected that the chemistry involving in situ formation of diazonium salts from anilines and its application as cheap, environment friendly, and secure alternative to aryl halides for the construction of carbon-carbon as well as carbon-heteroatom bonds will continue to attract the attention of synthetic chemists in the coming years. Although the cross-dehydrogenative coupling (CDC),⁷⁰⁻⁷² cross-coupling hydrogen evolution reaction (CCHER),⁷³⁻⁷⁶ and electrochemical oxidative cross-coupling⁷⁷⁻⁸¹ reactions are growing strategies for direct C-H

Panda, B.

alkynylation, application of diazonium salts for Sonogashira coupling provides a good alternative for the easy and user-friendly synthesis of diarylacetylenes.

Acknowledgements

I am thankful to Professor Tarun K. Sarkar, my Ph.D. supervisor for help and support. I am grateful to my colleagues and friends for their love and encouragement. I am also thankful to Dr. Uttam Kumar Das, Dr. Sujan Dutta, Mr. Sayan Mukherjee, Mr. Aranya Sarkar, Dr. Sujay Nandi, Dr. Totan Mondal, and Dr. Bhaskar Paul for their continuous support.

References

- 1. Roglans, A.; Pla-Quintana, A.; Moreno-Mañas, M. *Chem. Rev.* **2006**, *106*, 4622-4643. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/cr0509861</u>
- 2. Griefs, P. *Liebigs Ann. Chem.* **1858**, *106*, 123–125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jlac.18581060114</u>
- 3. Baumeister, P.; Meyer, W.; Oertle, K.; Seifert, G.; Siegrist, U.; Steiner, H. Chimia. 1997, 51, 144–146.
- 4. Baumeister, P.; Seifert, G.; Steiner, H. EP0584043, 1992.
- Kikukawa, K.; Nagira, K.; Wada, F.; Matsuda, T. *Tetrahedron* 1981, *37*, 31–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4020(01)97711-7</u>
- 6. Flood, D. T. Org. Synth. **1943**, 2, 295–298.
- Filimonov, V. D.; Trusova, M.; Postnikov, P.; Krasnokutskaya, E. A.; Lee, Y. M.; Hwang, H. Y.; Kim, H.; Chi, K. W. Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 3961–3964. https://doi.org/10.1021/ol8013528
- 8. Artuso, E.; Barbero, M.; Degani, I.; Dughera, S.; Fochi, R. *Tetrahedron* **2006**, *62*, 3146–3157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tet.2006.01.027</u>
- 9. Callonnec, F. L.; Fouquet, E.; Felpin, F. X. *Org. Lett.* **2011**, *13*, 2646–2649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ol200752x</u>
- 10. Dai, M.; Liang, B.; Wang, C.; Chen, J.; Yang, Z. *Org. Lett.* **2004**, *6*, 221-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ol036182u</u>
- 11. Doyle, M. P.; Bryker, W. J. *J. Org. Chem.* **1979**, *44*, 1572-1574. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jo01323a048</u>
- 12. Selvakumar, K.; Zapf, A.; Spannenberg, A.; Beller, M. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2002**, *8*, 3901-3906. https://doi.org/10.1002/1521-3765(20020902)8:17<3901::AID-CHEM3901>3.0.CO;2-E
- 13. Andrus, M. B., Song, C. *Org. Lett.* **2001**, *3*, 3761-3764. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ol016724c</u>
- 14. Negishi, E.; Coperet, C.; Ma, S.; Liou, S. Y.; Liu, F. *Chem. Rev.* **1996**, *96*, 365-394. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/cr950020x</u>
- 15. Grigg, R.; Longanathan, V.; Santhakumar, V.; Sridharan, V.; Teasdale, A. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1991**, *32*, 687-690.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)74860-X

- 16. *Vogel's Textbook of Practical Organic Chemistry*, 5th Ed.; Revised by Furniss, B. S.; Hannaford, A. J.; Smith, P. W. G.; Tatchell, A. R.; Eds.; Longman: Singapore, 1989.
- 17. Galli, C. *Chem. Rev.* **1988**, *88*, 765-792. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr00087a004
- 18. Crisp, G. T. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **1998**, *27*, 427-436. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/000842989802700405</u>
- 19. Beletskaya, I. P.; Cheprakov, A. V. *Chem. Rev.* **2000**, *100*, 3009-3066. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/cr9903048</u>
- 20. Alonso, F.; Beletskaya, I. P.; Yus, M. *Tetrahedron* **2005**, *61*, 11771-11835. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tet.2005.08.054</u>
- 21. Miyaura, N.; Suzuki, A. *Chem. Rev.* **1995**, *95*, 2457-2483. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr00039a007
- 22. Miyaura, N. *Top. Curr. Chem.* **2002**, *219*, 11-59. https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-45313-X_2
- 23. Bellina, F.; Carpita, A.; Rossi, R. *Synthesis* **2004**, 15, 2419-2440. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2004-831223
- 24. *Handbook of organopalladium chemistry for organic synthesis*; Negishi, E., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons: New York, **2002**; Vol. *2*, part VI.
- 25. Kosugi, M.; Fugami, K. J. Organomet. Chem. **2002**, 653, 50-53. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-328X(02)01270-6
- 26. Hartwig, J. F. In *Comprehensive Coordination Chemistry II*; McCleverty, J. A., Meyer, T. J., Eds.; Elsevier Ltd: Oxford, U.K., 2004; *9*, 369.
- 27. Hartwig, J. F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **1998**, *37*, 2046-2067. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1521-3773(19980817)37:15<2046::AID-ANIE2046>3.0.CO;2-L
- 28. Yang, B. H.; Buchwald, S. L. *J. Organomet. Chem.* **1999**, *576*, 125-146. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-328X(98)01054-7
- 29. Sonogashira, K.; Tohda, Y.; Hagihara, N. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1975**, *16*, 4467-4470. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(00)91094-3</u>
- 30. Panda, B.; Sarkar, T. K. *J. Org.Chem*. **2013**, *78*, 2413–2421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jo302545n</u>
- 31. Panda, B. *ChemistrySelect* **2019**, *4*, 9143–9164. https://doi.org/10.1002/slct.201900779
- 32. Panda, B.; Gooyee, A. K. *Lett. Org. Chem.* **2021**, *18*, 507-512. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1570178617999200909114431</u>
- 33. Panda, B. *Arkivoc* **2019**, i, 293-303. https://doi.org/10.24820/ark.5550190.p010.966
- 34. Chinchilla, R.; Najera, C. *Chem. Rev.* **2007**, *107*, 874-922. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/cr050992x</u>
- 35. Doucet, H.; Hierso, J. C. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2007**, *46*, 834-871. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200602761</u>
- 36. Plenio, H., *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2008**, *47*, 6954-6956. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200802270</u>
- 37. Sengupta, S.; Sadhukhan, S. K. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 715-718. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0040-4039(97)10643-8</u>

- 38. Panda, B.; Sarkar, T. K. *Tetrahedron Lett*. **2010**, *51*, 301-303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tetlet.2009.11.003</u>
- 39. Panda, B.; Sarkar, T. K. *Synthesis*, **2013**, *45*, 817–829. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0032-1318119
- 40. Panda, B.; Sarkar, T. K. *Chem.Commun.* **2010**, *46*, 3131-3133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C001277G</u>
- 41. Lauterbach, T.; Livendahl, M.; Rosellón, A.; Espinet, P.; Echavarren, A. M. *Org. Lett.*, **2010**, *12*, 3006-3009. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ol101012n</u>
- 42. Venkatesan, P. ; Santhanalakshmi, J. *Langmuir*, **2010**, *26*, 12225-12229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/la101088d</u>
- 43. Pankajakshan, S.; Loh, T. P. *Chem. Asian J.* **2011**, *6*, 2291-2295. https://doi.org/10.1002/asia.201100263
- 44. Shi, Y.; Peterson, S. M.; Haberaecker, W. W.; Blum, S. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2008**, 130, 2168-2169. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja710648b
- 45. Duschek, A.; Kirsch, S. F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2008**, 47, 5703-5705. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200801903
- 46. del Pozo, J.; Carrasco, D.; Perez-Temprano, M. H.; Garcia-Melchor, M.; Alvarez, R.; Casares, A. J.; Espinet, P. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 2013, 52, 2189-2193. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201209262
- 47. Shi, Y.; Ramgren, S. D.; Blum, S. A. *Organometallics*, **2009**, *28*, 1275-1277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/om801206g</u>
- 48. Hashmi, A. S. K.; Lothschutz, C.; Döpp, R.; Rudolph, M. ; Ramamurthi, T. D.; Rominger, F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 8243-8246.

https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200902942

49. Hashmi, A. S. K.; Döpp, R.; Lothschutz, C.; Rudolph, M.; Riedel, D.; Rominger, F. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2010**, *352*, 1307-1314.

https://doi.org/10.1002/adsc.201000159

- 50. Peña-López, M.; Ayán-Varela, M.; Sarandeses, L. A.; Pérez Sestelo, J. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2010**, *16*, 9905-9909. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/adsc.201000159</u>
- 51. Weber, D.; Gagne, M. R. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 5172-5174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/c1cc11055a</u>
- Peña-López, M.; Ayán-Varela, M.; Sarandeses, L. A., Pérez Sestelo J. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2012, 10, 1686-1694.

https://doi.org/10.1039/c2ob06788a

- Hashmi, A. S. K.; Lothschutz, C.; Döpp, R.; Ackermann, M.; Becker, J. D. B.; Rudolph, M.; Scholz, C.; Rominger, F. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2012, 354, 133-147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/adsc.201000044</u>
- 54. Hirner, J. J.; Roth, K. E.; Shi, Y.; Blum, S. A. *Organometallics* **2012**, 31, 6843-6850. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/om300671j</u>
- 55. Wu, H.; He, Y. P.; Gong, L. Z. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2012**, 354, 975-980. https://doi.org/10.1002/adsc.201100922
- 56. Al-Amin, M.; Johnson, J. S.; Blum, S. A., *Organometallics* **2014**, 33, 5448-5456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/om500747m</u>
- 57. Tanimoto, R.; Suzuki, S.; Kozaki, M.; Okada, K. Chem. Lett. **2014**, 43, 678-680.

- 58. García-Domínguez, P.; Nevado, C. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2016**, *138*, 3266-3269. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.5b10277
- Verlee, A.; Heugebaert, T.; van der Meer, T.; Kerchev, P.; Van Hecke, K.; Van Breusegem, F.; Stevens, C. V. ACS Catal. 2019, 9, 7862–7869. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.9b02275
- 60. Fabrizi, G.; Goggiamani, A.; Sferrazza, A.; Cacchi, S.; *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2010**, *49*, 4067–4070. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201000472</u>
- 61. Wu, X. F.; Neumann, H.; Beller, M. *Chem. Commun.* **2011**, *47*, 7959–7961. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/c1cc12552d</u>
- 62. Barbero, M.; Cadamuro, S.; Dughera, S. *Eur. J. Org. Chem.* **2014**, 2014, 598–605. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.201301191
- 63. Kim, S.; Rojas-Martin, J.; Toste, F. D. *Chem. Sci.* **2016**, *7*, 85–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C5SC03025K</u>
- 64. Tlahuext-Aca, A.; Hopkinson, M. N.; Sahoo, B.; Glorius, F. *Chem. Sci.* **2016**, 7, 89-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C5SC02583D</u>
- 65. Teci, M.; Tilley, M.; McGuire, M. A.; Organ, M.G. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2016**, *22*, 17407-17415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/chem.201603626</u>
- 66. Bhojane, J. M.; Jadhav, V. G.; Nagarkar, J. M. *New J. Chem.* **2017**, *41*, 6775-6780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C7NJ00877E</u>
- 67. Yang, L.; Li, H.; Du, Y.; Cheng, K.; Qi, C. *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2019**, *361*, 5030-5041. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C7NJ00877E</u>
- 68. Abrams, J. N. ; Chi, B. K. *Russian. J. Chem.* **2020**, *56*, 1236–1244. https://doi.org/10.1134/S1070428020070180
- 69. Ma, X.; Li, Z. *Synlett* **2021**, 32, 06, 631-635. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0040-1706638
- 70. Zhang, J. S.; Liu, L.; Chen, T.; Han, L. B. *Chem. Sus. Chem.* **2020**, *13*, 4776-4794. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.202001165</u>
- 71. Panda, B. *Asian. J. Org. Chem.* **2020**, *9*, 492–507. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajoc.201900733
- 72. Caspers, L. D.; Nachtsheim, B. J. *Chem. Asian J.* **2018**, *13*,1231–1247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/asia.201800102</u>
- 73. Meng, Q. Y.; Zhong, J. J.; Liu, Q.; Gao, X. W.; Zhang, H. H.; Lei, T.; Li, Z. J.; Feng, K.; Chen, B.; Tung, C.H.; Wu, L. Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2013, 135, 51, 19052–19055.
 https://doi.org/10.1021/ja408486v
- 74. Liu, K.; Tang, S.; Wu, T.; Wang, S.; Zou, M.; Cong, H.; Lei, A. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 639. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-08414-8</u>
- 75. Sauermann, N.; Meyer, T. H.; Qiu, Y.; Ackermann, L. *ACS Catal.* **2018**, *8*, 7086–7103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.8b01682</u>
- 76. Ye, X.; Wang, C.; Zhang, S.; Wei, J.; Shan, C.; Wojtas, L.; Xie, Y.; Shi, X. ACS Catal. **2020**, *10*, 11693–11699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.0c03207</u>
- 77. Tan, X.; Hou, X.; Rogge, T.; Ackermann, L. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 4619-4624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202014289</u>
- 78. Zhu, C.; Ang, N. W. J.; Meyer, T. H.; Qiu, Y.; Ackermann, L. ACS Cent. Sci. 2021, 7, 415–431.

- 79. Yuan, Y.; Lei, A. *Acc. Chem. Res.* **2019**, *52*, 3309-3324. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.accounts.9b00512
- 80. Ma, C.; Fang, P.; Mei, T. S. *ACS Catal.* **2018**, *8*, 7179-7189. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.8b01697
- 81. Kakiuchi, F.; Kochi, T. *Chem. Lett.* **2020**, *49*, 1256–1269. https://doi.org/10.1246/cl.200475

Author's Biographie



Biswajit Panda was born in West Bengal, India, in 1984. He received his B.Sc. degree in chemistry from Vidyasagar University, West Bengal, India, in 2004, his M.Sc. degree in organic chemistry from the Indian Institute of Technology, Kharagpur (IIT KGP), India and his Ph.D. degree in organic chemistry from same institute under the supervision of Professor Tarun K. Sarkar, in 2012. After postdoctoral studies in the group of Professor Tien Yau Luh at National Taiwan University, Taiwan, he returned to India and joined as an assistant professor of chemistry, City College, Kolkata, West Bengal, India, in 2015. His research interests include the strategies for reaction methodology development to address current problems in reaction discovery, and natural products synthesis. He is associated with teaching organic chemistry for postgraduate, graduate and undergraduate students.

This paper is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>)